FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA FRUIVI FILE

Stonerise Healthcare, LLC and Keyser Center, LLC, **Defendants Below, Petitioners**

v.

No. 19-0215 (Mineral County Civil Action No: 17-C-76)

JUN 1 0 2019

Susan K. Oates, Plaintiff Below, Respondent

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Mark A. Robinson (W. Va. Bar No. 5954) Justin D. Jack (W. Va. Bar No. 10663) Flaherty Sensabaugh Bonasso, PLLC P.O. Box 3843 Charleston, WV 25338-3843 Telephone: (304) 345-0200 Facsimile: (304) 345-0260 mrobinson@fsblaw.com jjack@fsblaw.com

Counsel for Petitioners

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The circuit court erred when it denied Petitioners' *Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration* by finding that the subject Arbitration Agreement is substantively unconscionable and was executed under circumstances that were procedurally unconscionable. This ruling was erroneous and contrary to controlling law because the Arbitration Agreement itself presents commercially reasonable terms, none of which support a finding if substantive unconscionability. Further, the facts developed below during limited contract formation discovery do not present any basis for a finding of procedural unconscionability.

Further, although not analyzed in detail by the lower court, the unavailability of the National Arbitration Forum ("NAF") is an ancillary logistical concern which has no effect on the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Donna Wagoner was admitted to Keyser Center, LLC d/b/a Piney Valley ("Piney Valley") on Monday, November 23, 2015 at some time prior to 2:39 p.m. via ambulance accompanied by her daughter, Susan Oates. [JA 174, 265]. None of the admissions documentation was completed on that day. Rather, Ms. Wagoner remained at Piney Valley under observation overnight, and Ms. Oates returned the following day to complete the admissions process. Ms. Oates is the adult daughter of Ms. Wagoner. She has completed some college courses and served as a court-appointed special advocate for children ("CASA") for approximately ten (10) years until 2013 for which she received weekly three-hour training sessions for 6 months and provided testimony in court in matters where the interests of minor children at issue. [JA 138-140]. For the past 15 years, Ms. Oates has served as manager of the Peebles Department Store in Keyser, WV. In that role, she hires and fires employees; at some

point after Ms. Oates was hired by Peebles, the store began offering optional arbitration agreements to new employees, but Ms. Oates cannot say whether she signed one or not. [JA 139-140]. Ms. Oates further testified that she signs customers up for Peebles store credit cards and although she testified that she does not know whether the credit agreement contain an arbitration clause, [JA 140], the record reflects that it does, [JA 117, n. 1].

Although none of the admissions documents (including the Arbitration Agreement) record the time at which they were signed on November 24, the fact that a nursing note was completed at 2:39 p.m. on November 23, means that Ms. Wagoner would have been at Piney Valley for at least 18 hours before an admissions representative would have been available November 24, 2015. Although Ms. Oates testified that her state of mind was "chaos" due to her work schedule and her mother's health condition, she specifically confirmed that she had full capacity to execute the Arbitration Agreement or other contracts: "My mind may have been in chaos but I can still handle business." [JA 146, 264]

Katrina Robinette, LSW completed the admissions process with Ms. Oates on November 24, 2015. Neither Ms. Robinette nor Ms. Oates were able to offer specific testimony as to the completion of the admissions paperwork beyond or anything that may have been said during the process. [JA 141, 265]. Ms. Robinette testified that the admissions process included a booklet of documents, with some pages being signed and filed while the rest was given to the resident/representative to keep. [JA 154-155]. Many of the documents requiring signature could be declined, and in fact, a review of Ms. Wagoner's admissions packet indicates that Ms. Oates declined multiple agreements including the Beauty Shop agreement, the Resident Trust Fund Account agreement, documents pertaining to laundry, photography, and other matters. [JA 175-

178] In point of fact, when a document lacked a "decline" option, one was written in for Ms. Oates by hand. [JA 175].

The Arbitration Agreement was completely separate from the other admission documents; in fact, it was the only document presented during the admissions process outside of the booklet. [JA 170]. Although the page containing the "decline" signature line was not retained with Ms. Wagoner's Arbitration Agreement, Ms. Robinette testified that no one (including Ms. Oates) ever signed on that page but rather than when a resident declines the agreement, they simply do not sign. [JA 171].

Ms. Robinette testified that her practice was to present the Arbitration Agreement separate from the admissions booklet and to explain that the Arbitration Agreement was optional:

Q. How were you instructed to present arbitration agreements particularly?

A. Well, they pretty much were self-explanatory. I mean, it was a form. We would -- it had a highlight -- we had a sample copy that was highlighted with the highlighted points. We reviewed each paragraph -- I reviewed each paragraph, the highlighted parts, and then, you know, explained that it was a voluntary procedure, you know, policy; and, I mean, they didn't have to sign it, if they didn't want to. . . .

[JA 155]. Ms. Robinette testified that there have been times when she felt a resident or attorney-in-fact was not "in a state of mind where they could complete the admission process" and that on those occasions "we would do it on a different day when they felt when they were able to do it." [JA 170]. In this case, the Ms. Wagoner had been in the facility for at least 18 hours, and Ms. Oates completed the admission process without objection.

On August 9, 2017, Plaintiff filed this action alleging personal injury and wrongful death against Defendants below/Petitioners. [JA 2-14]. On September 14, 2017, Defendants

below/Petitioners moved to dismiss this action and compel arbitration, [JA 15-47], to which Plaintiff below/Respondent responded on October 10, 2017, [JA 48-111]. The lower court heard the motion on October 16, 2017 and entered an Order denying the motion on December 18, 2017 while finding "that the record needs additional factual development regarding the issues surrounding the contract and the parties thereto." [JA 112]. The parties agreed to conduct limited discovery to develop the factual record on the issue identified by the lower court after which the lower court entered an Agreed Briefing Order on September 25, 2018 directing the parties to file any supplemental briefing deemed necessary. [JA 113-114]. On October 11, 2018, the lower court heard the motion and issued an oral decision to deny the motion with directions that an order be prepared. [JA 251-261]. On February 8, 2019, the lower court entered its "Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration". [JA 262-271].

This appeal followed. Defendants below/Petitioners seek reversal of the lower court's February 8, 2019 *Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration* and remand with instructions to grant the Motion.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Arbitration agreements are binding contracts that must be enforced pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"). 9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq. As binding contracts, courts are not permitted to disregard their terms or rewrite the provisions to change their meaning. Instead, courts are permitted to only determine the threshold issues of whether the agreement is valid and whether the dispute falls within its scope. Here, the lower court erred in denying the Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration on the ground that the Arbitration Agreement is substantively unconscionable and was executed under circumstances constituting procedural unconscionability. In doing so, the lower court disregarded the commercially reasonable terms of the Arbitration Agreement itself and imputed to Petitioners both

knowledge of and responsibility for actions of third-parties which occurred both (1) prior to Ms. Wagoner's admission to Piney Valley and (2) entirely unknown to Petitioners.

The circuit court failed to follow basic contract principles and as a result, violated Section 2 of the FAA, which mandates that binding Arbitration Agreements and contracts "evidencing a transaction involving interstate commerce. . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." 9 U.S.C. § 2. Moreover, the lower court relied, at least in part, on the unavailability of the National Arbitration Forum despite the absence of any evidence that the NAF's unavailability rendered the Arbitration Agreement impossible to perform.

Petitioners request that this Court reverse the lower court's order denying the Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, and remand the matter with instructions to refer this action to arbitration pursuant to the Arbitration Agreement signed by the parties.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioners request oral argument pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Rule 18 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure states that oral argument is unnecessary if all of the parties have waived oral argument, the appeal is frivolous, the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided, or all of the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs. None of these criteria are present in this case, and therefore oral argument is necessary and appropriate.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate standard of review of a circuit court's denial of a motion to dismiss is *de novo*. *Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front*, 231 W. Va. 518, 525, 745 S.E.2d 556, 563 (2013) (citing Syl. Pt. 4, Ewing v. Board of Educ. of Cnty. of Summers, 202 W. Va. 228, 503 S.E.2d 541 (1998)).

ARGUMENT

I. UNDER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT THE SUBJECT ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IS VALID AND MUST BE ENFORCED.

The law of arbitration has been extensively litigated in West Virginia. In recent years, this Court has issued over two dozen decisions considering the issue in various contexts. Thus, this Court is well aware of the principles governing the application of the FAA and the recognition that it applies broadly to any transaction directly or indirectly affecting interstate commerce. See e.g. Allied-Bruce Terminix Companies, Inc. v. Dobson, 513 U.S. 265 (1995). Indeed, this Court has recognized that "the federal policy favoring arbitration of disputes requires that a court construe liberally the arbitration clauses to find that they cover disputes reasonably contemplated by the language and to resolve doubts in favor of arbitration." State ex rel. City Holding Co., v. Kaufman, 216 W.Va. 594, 598, 609 S.E.2d 855, 859 (2004).

Nonetheless, Petitioners recognize this Court's recent trepidation regarding federal case law enforcing arbitration provisions pursuant to the FAA. As stated by the Court:

In recent years, the United States Supreme Court has doled out several complicated decisions construing the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. Sections 1-16. Read together, these decisions create an eye-glazing conceptual framework for interpreting contracts with arbitration clauses that is politely described as 'a tad oversubtle for a sensible application.' The Supreme Court sees its arbitration decisions as a series of 'clear instruction[s],'... But experience suggests that the rules derived from these decisions are difficult for lawyers and judges - and nearly impossible for people of ordinary knowledge - to comprehend. Still, no matter how confounding the Supreme Court's arbitration decisions may seem, we are constitutionally bound to apply them to arbitration clauses that involve interstate transactions.

Schumacher Homes of Circleville, Inc. v. Spencer, 235 W. Va. 335, 339, 774 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2015) (emphasis supplied, internal citations omitted). It is within this framework that the subject Arbitration Agreement must be evaluated and applied. See Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc., v.

Cardegna, 546 U.S. 440 (2006) (recognizing that the FAA places arbitration agreements on equal footing with all other contracts). The lower court's failure to follow clear legal precedent must be reversed.

A. The lower court's finding of substantive unconscionability is in error and must be reversed because the subject Arbitration Agreement is commercially reasonable and free of unconscionable terms.

At the outset, Petitioners note that contrary to the majority of arbitration agreements considered by this Court, the subject Arbitration Agreement is entirely voluntary and can be unilaterally rejected by the patient's representative or rescinded within thirty days. [JA 18-19]. The lower court acknowledges but does not discuss this fact in any detail. However, even if the subject Arbitration Agreement were mandatory, its terms – including all of the terms cited by the lower court – are bilateral in nature. Specifically, the lower court cites the fact that the subject Arbitration Agreement is pre-printed, recites as part of the consideration the "speed, efficiency, and cost-effectiveness" of arbitration, designates the NAF¹ as the arbitrator (or an alternative arbitrator if the NAF is unavailable), imposes confidentiality and the return of documents upon conclusion of the arbitration, requires consolidation of claims into a single proceeding, and permits the arbitrator allocate all or part of the costs of arbitration and the reasonable attorneys' fees of the prevailing party.

Mutuality of obligation is the essence of substantive unconscionability. *See e.g. Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Nelson*, 230 W. Va. 281, 289, 737 S.E.2d 550, 558 (2012) ("... the lack of mutuality in a contractual obligation — particularly in the context of arbitration — is an element a court may consider in assessing the substantive unconscionability of a contract term."); *Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp.*, 229 W. Va. 382, 393, 729 S.E.2d 217, 228 (2012). This Court has

¹ The unavailability of the NAF is treated in Section II, infra.

instructed that "[i]n assessing whether a contract provision is substantively unconscionable, a court may consider whether the provision lacks mutuality of obligation. If a provision creates a disparity in the rights of the contracting parties such that it is one-sided and unreasonably favorable to one party, then a court may find the provision is substantively unconscionable." Syl. Pt. 10, *Dan Ryan Builders, Inc., supra.* In this case, every term cited by the lower court is facially neutral and imposes equal obligations on both parties to the agreement. Accordingly, the lower court erred in finding the agreement substantively unconscionable and should be reversed.

B. The lower court's finding of procedural unconscionability is in error and must be reversed because the Respondent has made no showing of procedural unconscionability sufficient to invalidate the Arbitration Agreement.

The notion of procedural unconscionability may lend itself to serving as an escape hatch for the enforcement of any contract which a party – in hindsight – wishes to renegotiate. This case presents the Court with a proper vehicle by which to clarify and reiterate the relatively limited circumstances in which procedural unconscionability may relieve a party of his obligations. In the case at bar, the subject Arbitration Agreement was signed by an educated, literate, intelligent adult who suffers from no disability and has enjoyed a lengthy career as both a Court-Appointed Special Advocate for Children and the manager of a large department store. When she completed the admissions process at Piney Valley, her mother had been in the facility for at least 18 hours – if not longer – and had been attended to by the nursing staff during that entire time. By definition, Ms. Wagoner was not in any acute distress or emergency condition – otherwise, she could not have been admitted in the first place. In Ms. Oates' own words, when it came to handling her mother's affairs at the time, "[m]y mind may have been in chaos but I can still handle business." And so she did.

The Court put significant emphasis on the unfortunate series of events which preceded Ms. Wagoner's admission to Piney Valley; however, the Court further notes that the record is devoid of any evidence that these facts were known to Piney Valley at any time prior to the filing of this lawsuit.

As this Court has stated on numerous occasions

[p]rocedural unconscionability is concerned with inequities, improprieties, or unfairness in the bargaining process and formation of the contract. Procedural unconscionability involves a variety of inadequacies that results in the lack of a real and voluntary meeting of the minds of the parties, considering all the circumstances surrounding the transaction. These inadequacies include, but are not limited to, the age, literacy, or lack of sophistication of a party; hidden or unduly complex contract terms; the adhesive nature of the contract; and the manner and setting in which the contract was formed, including whether each party had a reasonable opportunity to understand the terms of the contract.

Syl. Pt. 10, *Brown, supra* (citations omitted). In the case at bar, no witness has offered any facts which would support a finding of unconscionability. Ms. Oates herself acknowledged that despite whatever "chaos" may have been going on in her life, she was able to "handle business" when it came exercising her duties as her mother's attorney-in-fact. The sole factual findings which could even partially support a finding of procedural unconscionability is the fact that Ms. Robinette drew an "x" where Ms. Oates was to sign the subject Arbitration Agreement, and somehow the "decline" page of the agreement — which we know Ms. Oates did not sign — was misplaced. Every of the fact pertaining to Ms. Oates' state of mind or the conduct of third-parties was entirely unknown to Piney Valley and cannot support a finding of procedural unconscionability. Accordingly, the lower court's decision must be reversed.

II. THE UNAVAILABILITY OF THE NATIONAL ARBITRATION FORUM IS AN "ANCILLARY LOGISTICAL CONCERN" WHICH DOES NOT RENDER THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT UNENFORCEABLE.

The subject Arbitration Agreement contains an agreement that binding arbitration shall be conducted "by National Arbitration Forum, or if National Arbitration Forum is unavailable for any reason, the parties to this Arbitration Agreement agree to appoint an alternative arbitrator."

[JA 17]. As this Court recognized in *Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front*, "the NAF entered into a consent decree forbidding it from conducting consumer arbitration." 745 S.E.2d 556, 559 (W. Va. 2013). Although the lower court cited the selection of the NAF as a basis for invalidating the subject Arbitration Agreement, the record is devoid of any argument or evidence that the NAF has any peculiar expertise such that the appointment of a substitute arbitrator pursuant to the Arbitration Agreement and *Section 5* of the FAA would materially alter the proceedings.

In *Front*, this Court first interpreted *Section 5* of the FAA when it adopted the majority rule as formulated in Syllabus Point 3:

Where an arbitration agreement names a forum for arbitration that is unavailable or has failed for some reason, a court may appoint a substitute forum pursuant to *section 5* of the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 5 (1947) (2006 ed.), only if the choice of forum is an ancillary logistical concern. Where the choice of forum is an integral part of the agreement to arbitrate, the failure of the chosen forum will render the arbitration agreement unenforceable.

Front, supra. In adopting this majority rule, this Court noted the following underlying rationale for distinguishing between forum selections which are "integral" and those which are merely an "ancillary logistical concern": "..., when the choice of arbitration forum was integral to the agreement, such that the parties would not have agreed upon arbitration absent the selected forum, application of Section 5 to appoint a substitute arbitrator is more problematical." 745

S.E.2d at 568 (quoting Jones v. GGNSC Pierre, LLC, 684 F. Supp. 2d 1161, 1166 (D.S.D. 2010)).

In the present case, no argument has been made nor does the record suggests that the parties would not have agreed to arbitrate future disputes and the absence of the NAF. In point of fact, when the signatory to the Arbitration Agreement was asked whether she had even heard of the NAF, she testified that she had not even heard of it. [JA 143]. Thus, to the extent the lower court relied on the selection of the NAF as a basis for a finding of unconscionability, that finding is in error and contrary to the FAA and this Court's precedents. As such, this Court should reverse the ruling below.

CONCLUSION AND REQUEST FOR RELIEF

The Arbitration Agreement at issue is a binding contract that must be enforced. Under the FAA, this Court must interpret the agreement within the framework of traditional contract rules. Petitioners request that this Court reverse the circuit court's order denying their *Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration*, and remand the matter with instructions to refer this action to arbitration.

Petitioners Stonerise Healthcare, LLC and Keyser Center, LLC d/b/a Piney Valley,

By Counsel

Mark A. Robinson (W. Va. Bar No. 5954)

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