IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGIN

Stonerise Healthcare, LLC and Keyser Center, LLC, Defendants Below, Petitioners JUL 2 5 2019

v.

No. 19-0215 (Mineral County Civil Action No.: 17-C-76)

Susan K. Oates, Plaintiff Below, Respondent

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Colin M. Esgro (W.Va. Bar No. 12401)
Corey S. Young (W.Va. Bar No. 13152)
Wilkes & McHugh, P.A.
437 Grant Street, Suite 912
Pittsburgh, PA 15219
T: (412) 434-1110
F: (412) 434-4882
CEsgro awilkesmchugh.com
CYoung awilkesmchugh.com

Counsel for Respondent

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

Id. These circumstances create an "implicit perception that the forms must be signed as a condition of admission." *Id.* at 269. Further, "[i]t may be disingenuous for a nursing home to later assert that the patient or family member consciously, knowingly and deliberately accepted an arbitration

clause in the contract, and understood the clause was intended to eliminate their access to the courts if the nursing home negligently injured or killed the patient." *Brown II*, at 729 S.E.2d at 226.

The admissions process in this case had all of the hallmarks of procedural unconscionability. Susan Oates was in a markedly compromised bargaining position compared to Petitioners. Susan Oates was presented with a pre-printed form arbitration agreement on a take-it-or-leave-it basis. Susan Oates had no meaningful alternatives in choosing whether her mother would be admitted to a nursing home or which nursing home her mother would be admitted. Susan Oates was afforded no opportunity to review the admissions paperwork in advance of her mother's admission, she was provided no explanation or disclosure whatsoever of the one-sided terms that were hidden within the fine print of the agreement, and she had no ability to negotiate its terms. Finally, just as recognized by this Court in *Brown I*, Susan Oates was in the midst of a crisis when she admitted her mother to the Petitioner's nursing home and had only one concern: ensuring that her mother obtained the care and treatment she needed to get better.

Petitioners do not dispute the facts giving rise to Susan Oates's chaotic mental state, but instead argue that these facts should be disregarded because 'the record is devoid of any evidence that these facts were known to Piney Valley at any time prior to the filing of this lawsuit." Petitioners' Brief, at p. 9. Petitioners' argument is a red herring, completely devoid of substance and merit. Petitioners fail to cite to a single case, precedential or otherwise, that imposes a scienter requirement in the unconscionability analysis. It matters not whether Petitioners *knew* that Susan Oates's mental state was chaos, it matters only that those circumstances *existed* at the time and *affected* Susan Oates's bargaining position and opportunity to make a meaningful choice. *Brown I*, 724 S.E.2d at 285. Indeed, this Court has recognized unconscionability factors such as the

weaker party's age, intelligence, and education without the need for evidence that the stronger party investigated or even *knew of* such factors. *Brown 1*, 724 S.E.2d at 285.

Petitioners also rely upon the purported existence of a page containing a "decline" signature line. But the record is devoid of any evidence that the agreement presented to Susan Oates contained such a declination page. Petitioners were not only unable to locate an original declination page, but were also unable to produce an exemplar declination page for the form arbitration agreement that was in circulation at the time. [JA 235-36]. Instead, Petitioners produced only a three-paged arbitration agreement that provided no alternative signature line to decline and had "x" marks indicating that Susan Oates's signature was required. [JA 019]. These facts strongly suggest that the agreement was presented as a condition of admission.

Petitioners also hang their hat on a soundbite from Susan Oates that she could still "handle business." Petitioners Brief, at p. 9. Despite putting on a strong face in response to an improper question where a sound objection was preserved, [JA 146], the record is clear that Susan Oates was on the verge of breakdown from her mother being burglarized, hospitalized, and institutionalized all within a matter of three weeks. At the time she signed the proffered arbitration agreement, Susan was vulnerable, and Susan was alone. She was traumatized, stressed, and scared. Susan could not "handle business," despite her valiant efforts to do so. And Susan Oates unwittingly entered into a one-sided agreement as a product of her vulnerability.

B. The Agreement Contains Terms that Unreasonable Favor the Petitioner and are Substantively Unconscionable

"Substantive unconscionability involves unfairness in the contract itself and whether a contract term is one-sided and will have an overly harsh effect on the disadvantaged party. The factors to be weighed in assessing substantive unconscionability vary with the content of the agreement. Generally, courts should consider the commercial reasonableness of the contract

terms, the purpose and effect of the terms, the allocation of the risks between the parties, and public policy concerns." Syllabus Point 12, *Brown II*, 729 S.E.2d at 221. "Substantive unconscionability refers to whether the terms of a contract are unreasonably favorable to the more powerful party." *Brown I*, 724 S.E.2d at 288. Despite Petitioners' contention, it is not enough that the terms of an arbitration agreement are "facially neutral." Indeed, facially neutral terms may have an "overly harsh effect" on the weaker party. *Id.* at 287. Further, facially neutral terms may still be "unreasonably favorable to the more powerful party." *Id.* at 288.

.

In this case, the arbitration agreement was a contract of adhesion that contained numerous terms that were beyond the reasonable expectations of an ordinary person, and were oppressive and unconscionable.

"Loser Pays" Provision

While the proffered arbitration agreement initially sets forth that "[t]he Facility agrees to pay for the fees associated with arbitration," buried within the fine print the agreement provides that "the arbitrator may, in the award, allocate all or part of the costs of the arbitration, including the fees of the arbitrator and the reasonable attorneys' fees of the prevailing party." [JA 018]. The offensive provision lurks within a larger paragraph:

Who pays for the arbitration?

The Facility agrees to pay for the fees associated with arbitration which may include but is not limited case management fees and professional fees for the arbitrator's services. The Parties shall bear their own costs and attorney's fees except that the arbitrator may, in the award, allocate all or part of the costs of the arbitration, including the fees of the arbitrator and the reasonable attorneys' fees of the prevailing party.

A reasonable person with average intellect and experience would not understand this paragraph to impose the risk of unreasonably burdensome costs including all of the arbitration costs and the nursing home's legal fees. Further, Petitioners had reason to know that incoming residents typically relied upon their representation that arbitration was "cost-effective" rather than reading

the admissions paperwork word-for-word on their own. [JA 157, 160, 162]. As such, this term was never explained or even *disclosed* to Susan Oates. [JA 160, 162].

As recognized by this Court on numerous occasions, "loser pays" provisions such as this are unconscionable:

Provisions in a contract of adhesion that if applied would impose unreasonably burdensome costs upon or would have a substantial deterrent effect upon a person seeking to enforce and vindicate rights and protections or to obtain statutory or common-law relief and remedies that are afforded by or arise under state law that exists for the benefit and protection of the public, are unconscionable; unless the court determines that exceptional circumstances exist that make the provisions conscionable.

State ex rel. Richmond Am. Homes of W. Virginia, Inc. v. Sanders, 228 W. Va. 125, 137–38, 717 S.E.2d 909, 921–22 (2011), quoting, State ex rel. Dunlap v. Berger, 211 W.Va. 549, 559-60, 567 S.E.2d 265, 275-76 (2002). "[I]t is not only the costs imposed on the claimant but the risk that the claimant may have to bear substantial costs that deters the exercise of the constitutional right of due process." Brown II, 729 S.E.2d at 229.

In this case, pursuing a potential claim against Petitioners means taking on the risk that Respondent will have to saddle tens of thousands of dollars of costs, including the entire cost of the arbitration and the Petitioners' legal fees. Pursuant to West Virginia precedent, this term is unconscionable "unless the court determines that exceptional circumstances exist that make the provision conscionable." *Sanders*, 717 S.E.2d at 921–22. Petitioners have set forth no such "exceptional circumstances" that would render this provision conscionable. On the contrary, the record suggests that the provision is particularly offensive considering that Petitioners' representative Katrina Robinette told Susan Oates that arbitration was "cost-effective" while failing to disclose the possibility that Susan Oates may have to foot the entire bill if she lost. [JA 160, 162]. Petitioners' only defense to the inclusion of this unconscionable term is that it is facially

victor's attorney's fees, the risk of losing that much money is far more daunting to a nursing home resident than it is to a corporate nursing home chain. Nursing home residents are far more likely than Petitioners to be intimidated by excessive costs and compelled into forfeiting bona fide claims.

The "loser pays" provision also contravenes West Virginia's clear public policy concerns embodied in the "American Rule." *Sally-Mike Properties v. Yokum*, 179 W.Va. 48, 52, 365 S.E.2d 246, 250 (1986). The American Rule provides that "each litigant bears his or her own attorney's fees absent a contrary rule of court or express statutory or contractual authority for reimbursement." Syllabus Point 2, *Yokum*, 365 S.E.2d at 246.

[A]n eventual loser's refusal to recognize the validity of the eventual winner's position, and his insistence on taking the winner to court, do not necessarily imply wrongful conduct on the part of the loser. After all, the loser calculated his chances of winning as sufficiently promising to put up his own attorneys' fees. And even where lawyers take a case on a contingency fee, the lawyer has usually calculated the chance of winning as sufficiently strong to warrant his time and effort.

Nelson v. West Virginia Public Employees Insurance Board, 171 W.Va. 445, 453, 300 S.E.2d 86, 94 (1982). "[T]he American rule promotes equal access to the courts for the resolution of bona fide disputes." Yokum, 365 S.E.2d at 250. "[O]ne should not be penalized for merely prosecuting or defending a lawsuit, as litigation is at best uncertain." Id. The arbitration agreement contravenes the long-standing American Rule in West Virginia and violates the sound and thoughtful public policy behind its adoption. Wellington Power Corp. v. CNA Sur. Corp., 217 W.Va. 33, 39, 614 S.E.2d 680, 686 (W.Va. 2005) (courts empowered to void contracts based on violations of sound public policy); Syllabus Point 12, Brown II, 729 S.E.2d at 221 (courts are empowered to consider "public policy concerns" when determining substantive unconscionability).

Confidentiality Provision

The agreement further provides that "[t]he arbitration shall be confidential and all documents related to the arbitration process which are the property of the Facility shall be returned to the Facility upon completion of arbitration." [JA 017]. While this issue has yet to come under appellate review in West Virginia, there exists a substantial breadth of persuasive authority finding that provisions in an arbitration agreement that require the arbitration proceedings and award to be kept confidential to be substantively unconscionable. *See e.g.Schnuerle v. Insight Commc'ns Co., L.P.*, 376 S.W.3d 561, 579 (Ky. 2012); *Zuver v. Airtouch Commc'ns, Inc.*, 153 Wash. 2d 293, 314, 103 P.3d 753, 765 (2004); *Ting v. AT&T*, 319 F.3d 1126, 1151-52 (9th Cir. 2003).

The unreasonable advantage granted to the drafter of such a provision is aptly characterized by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals:

Although facially neutral, confidentiality provisions usually favor companies over individuals . . . because companies continually arbitrate the same claims, the arbitration process tends to favor the company . . . if the company succeeds in imposing a gag order, plaintiffs are unable to mitigate the advantages inherent in being a repeat player . . . AT&T has placed itself in a far superior legal posture by ensuring that none of its potential opponents have access to precedent while, at the same time, AT&T accumulates a wealth of knowledge on how to negotiate the terms of its own unilaterally crafted contract.

Ting, 319 F.3d at 1151-52.

As the drafters of the instant agreement, Petitioners are "repeat players" in the forum they have selected. Petitioners' "mutual obligation" to keep the proceedings confidential is meaningless considering that Petitioners have access to a wealth of knowledge and precedent from previous arbitration proceedings against them in similar cases. Further, the West Virginia public – particularly those individuals in Mineral County – have an interest in Petitioners' negligent, intentional, reckless, and outrageous conduct coming to light rather than the same being

shrouded in secrecy behind the closed doors of a private process. *Zuver*, 103 P.3d at 765 ("a lack of public disclosure may systematically favor companies over individuals."). For these reasons, the confidentiality provision in the agreement is substantively unconscionable because it is unreasonably favorable to Petitioners, is beyond the scope of expectations for a reasonable person executing this type of agreement, and is contrary to public policy.

Selection of the National Arbitration Forum ("NAF")

The arbitration agreement provides that arbitration shall be conducted "by National Arbitration Forum, or if National Arbitration Forum is unavailable for any reason, the parties to this Arbitration Agreement agree to appoint an alternative arbitrator." [JA 0017-18]. The NAF is a biased and unfair forum such that the provision in the arbitration agreement selecting the NAF has an unreasonably harsh effect on Respondent and unreasonably favors Petitioners.

As recognized by this Court in *Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front*, 231 W. Va. 518, 521, 745 S.E.2d 556, 559 (2013), the NAF entered into a consent order precluding them from handling consumer arbitration proceedings in light of allegations of anti-consumer bias. *Id.* The National Arbitration Forum's conspiracy to defraud consumers was discovered over six years before the proffered arbitration agreement was presented to Susan Oates. At the time the agreement was signed, Petitioners knew or had reason to know that the NAF was an unfair forum that favored companies over consumers. If arbitration was to proceed before the NAF as Petitioners preferred, Respondent would be unable to receive a fair hearing. The arbitration agreement's incorporation of a one-sided forum "violates notions of neutrality and fundamental fairness" and is unconscionable. *Toppings v. Meritech Mortg. Servs., Inc.*, 212 W. Va. 73, 74, 569 S.E.2d 149, 150 (2002) (concurrence) (Maynard, J.) (finding an arbitration agreement to be unenforceable for its selection of an arbitral forum that had the appearance of impropriety because it was

compensated "through a case-volume fee system whereby the decision maker's income as an arbitrator is dependent on continued referrals from the creditor.").

Petitioner's only defense is that the arbitration agreement provides for alternatives. [JA 0017-18] Petitioner's only defense is that the arbitration agreement provides for alternatives. [JA 0017-18] Petitioners cite to and rely upon *Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front* for the principal that an arbitration agreement's selection of an unavailable forum is not fatal to the enforceability if "the choice of forum is an ancillary logistical concern." 745 S.E.2d at 568. Respondent recognizes that only where the choice of forum is "an integral part of the agreement to arbitrate" will the failure of the chosen forum render the arbitration agreement unenforceable. *Id.* To be clear, Respondent's argument is not based upon Petitioners' selection of an *unavailable* forum. As such, this Court's opinion in *Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front* is not implicated. Regardless of whether the NAF is available or unavailable, the arbitration agreement selected an arbitral forum that "impinges on neutrality and fundamental fairness" and is unconscionable under West Virginia law. *Toppings v. Meritech Mortgage Services, Inc.*, 569. S.E.2d at 149.

Reduction of the Statute of Limitations

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